
 
 
 
  Contact: Alan Maher 

  Tel: 01246 217391 

  Email: alan.maher@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk   

  Date: Monday, 6 February 2023 

 
 
To: Members of the Planning Committee 
 
Please attend a meeting of the Planning Committee to be held on Tuesday, 14 February 
2023 at 2.00 pm in the District Council Offices, 2013 Mill Lane, Wingerworth, Chesterfield 
S42 6NG. 
 
The meeting will also be live streamed from the Council’s website on its You Tube 
Channel. Click on the following link if you want to view the meeting: 
 
North East Derbyshire District Council - YouTube 
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
Assistant Director of Governance and Monitoring Officer  
 

Members of the Committee 
 
 
Councillor William Armitage  Councillor Maggie Jones 
Councillor Andrew Cooper Councillor Heather Liggett 
Councillor Peter Elliott Councillor Alan Powell 
Councillor Mark Foster Councillor Jacqueline Ridgway 
Councillor Roger Hall Councillor Kathy Rouse 
Councillor David Hancock Councillor Diana Ruff - Chair 
Councillor Lee Hartshorne 
 
Please notify the Interim Governance Manager, Alan Maher by 4.00 pm on Friday 10 
February 2023 of any substitutions made for the meeting. 
 
For further information about this meeting please contact: Alan Maher 01246 217391 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

mailto:alan.maher@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCAtAqurAPSDhWR0zf_M6XGg?view_as=subscriber


 

A G E N D A 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Substitutions   
 

 To receive any apologies for absence and notices of substitutions from Members.  
 

2   Declarations of Interest   
 

 Members are requested to declare the existence and nature of any disclosable 
pecuniary interests and/or other interests, not already on their register of 
interests, in any item on the agenda and withdraw from the meeting at the 
appropriate time.  
 

3   Minutes of Last Meeting  (Pages 5 - 8) 
 

 To approve as a correct record and the Chair to sign the Minutes of Planning 
Committee held on Tuesday 17 January 2023.  
 

4   NED/22/00391/FL - KELSTEDGE  (Pages 9 - 23) 
 

 Cladding of Public House, timber lean-to shelter extension, alterations to porch, 
two timber pergola seating structures, structure for forecourt sign, trellis fencing 
on top of stone wall to west boundary, extensions to the rear of the Public House 
and rear of Smithy Barn and detached hobby workshop and rear 1.8m high close 
boarded fencing to the northern boundary. (Amended Drawings). Kelstedge Inn, 
Matlock Road, Kelstedge. 
 
(Planning Manager – Development Management) 
 

5   NED/22/01164/FL - ASHOVER  (Pages 24 - 37) 
 

 Conversion and extension of existing barn to form a single residential dwelling 
and erection of new storage barn at Alice Head Farm, Alicehead Road, Ashover.  
(Revised scheme of 21/00713/FL) (Private Drainage System) 
 
(Planning Manager – Development Management) 
 

6   NED/22/01190/FL - BRACKENFIELD  (Pages 38 - 51) 
 

 Conversion of Barn to Dwelling (Revised Scheme of 22/00504/FL). Moor Grange, 
Doehole Lane, Brackenfield 
 
(Planning Manager - Development Management) 
 

7   Late Representations - Summary Update Report - NOW PUBLISHED  (Pages 
52 - 58) 
 

 (Planning Manager – Development Management) 
 
 
 

Page 2



 

8   Planning Appeals - Lodged and Determined  (Pages 59 - 62) 
 

 (Planning Manager – Development Management) 
 

9   Matters of Urgency   
 

 To consider any other matter which the Chair is of the opinion should be 
considered as a matter of urgency. 
 

___________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 3



 

 

Access for All statement 
 

You can request this document or information in another format such as 

large print or language or contact us by: 

 
 Phone - 01246 231111 

 Email - connectne@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk 

 Text - 07800 00 24 25 

 BSL Video Call – a three way video call with us and a BSL interpreter. It is free 

to call North East Derbyshire District Council with Sign Solutions or call into 

the offices at Wingerworth.  

 Call with Relay UK via textphone or app on 0800 500 888– a free phone service  

 Visiting our offices at Wingerworth – 2013 Mill lane, S42 6NG 

 

Page 4

tel:01246%20231111
mailto:connectne@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk
tel:07800002425
https://www.interpreterslive.co.uk/app/nederbyshire-district-council/
https://www.interpreterslive.co.uk/app/nederbyshire-district-council/
https://www.relayuk.bt.com/
tel:0800%20500%20888
https://www.ne-derbyshire.gov.uk/contact-us
https://www.google.com/maps/place/Mill+Ln,+Wingerworth,+Chesterfield+S42+6NG/@53.2019405,-1.4175369,16z/data=!3m1!4b1!4m5!3m4!1s0x48799002a176648d:0x964bfc12639f0777!8m2!3d53.1998519!4d-1.4139856


 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES OF MEETING HELD ON TUESDAY, 17 JANUARY 2023 
 

Present: 
 

Councillor Diana Ruff (Chair) (in the Chair) 
Councillor Alan Powell (Vice-Chair) 

 
Councillor William Armitage Councillor Andrew Cooper 
Councillor Peter Elliott Councillor Mark Foster 
Councillor Roger Hall Councillor Lee Hartshorne 
Councillor David Hancock Councillor Maggie Jones 
Councillor Heather Liggett Councillor Kathy Rouse 
 
Also Present: 
 
A Kirkham Planning Manager - Development Management 
G Cooper Principal Planning Officer 
P Slater Principal Planning Officer 
L Ingram Legal Team Manager & Deputy Monitoring Officer 
A Bond Governance Officer 
A Maher Interim Governance Manager 
 
PLA/
75/2
2-23 

Apologies for Absence and Substitutions 
 
None 
 

PLA/
76/2
2-23 

Declarations of Interest 
 
None 
 

PLA/
77/2
2-23 

Minutes of the Last Meetings 
 
The minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday 13 December 2022 were approved 
as a true record.  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on Tuesday 20 December 2022 were approved 
as a true record.  
 

PLA/
78/2
2-23 

NED/21/00987/OL - CALOW 
 
The report to Committee explained that an Outline Application had been 
submitted, with all matters reserved except for means of access, for a 
development of up to the 36 dwellings at land to the North and West of ‘The 
Homestead’, Dark Lane, Calow. This would be a Major Development, which 
would affect a Public Right of Way. It would be a departure from the Council’s 
Development Plan and affect the setting of a listed building. The Application 
involved both amended Titles and Plans. The Application had been referred to 
Committee by Ward Member, Councillor J Birkin, who had raised concerns about 
it. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

 
Planning Committee was recommended to approve the Application, subject to 
conditions.  The report to Committee explained the reasons for this.  
 
Members were reminded that an Outline Application for a major development on 
the site had been put forward and rejected (NED/00154/OL).  The current 
Application was for fewer dwellings, which would be built in a smaller area.  
 
The report explained that the development would be outside of the Settlement 
Limit for Calow, but was partially bounded on three sides by existing housing. 
Officers felt that although the development would be in the countryside it would 
have only a limited and acceptable impact on the landscape. They believed that 
the Council could make sure the development was in keeping with the 
surrounding area and that issues involving its impact on neighbours could be 
addressed, at the Reserved Matters Stage (or when the detailed proposals were 
submitted). 
 
The Outline Application proposed that the development should consist entirely of 
affordable dwellings. Officers felt that this would be a significant benefit to the 
District, which weighed heavily in its favour. They recommended that the 
Application be approved, subject to appropriate conditions.  
 
Before Committee considered the Application it heard from J Flaxman, J Sabido, I 
Allcock, C Flaxman, S Ellis, C Wells, A Wells, C Winter, L Vardy, J Hancock, A 
Wood, O Downey, K Haywood, C McLaughlin, I Willets, I Koszegi, R Crowley, M 
Armstrong, G Ferraby and  P Piredda, who all opposed the Application. K Hulse, 
Agent for the Application, spoke in support of it.  
 
Committee considered the Application. It took into account the Principle of 
Development and the site’s location outside of the Settlement Development Limit 
(SDL) for Calow in the countryside. It considered the relevant national and local 
planning policies. These included Local Plan Policy SS1, covering sustainable 
development, Local Plan Policy SS2 on the distribution of development in the 
District, Local Plan Policy SS9, setting out the categories for when development 
in the countryside would be acceptable. Committee also considered Policy LC3, 
which allowed for development of affordable housing in the countryside in 
appropriate circumstances. 
 
Members discussed the Application. They considered the potential impact of the 
development on traffic in the area. Members noted the concerns which had been 
raised about the proposed access to the development. They also heard about the 
views of the Highway Authority. 
 
Members asked for and received clarification about what would constitute 
affordable housing. They heard how the specific tenure details would be dealt 
with at the Reserved Matters stage. Some Members expressed concern that the 
commitment to only build affordable housing on the site might be altered at the 
Reserved Matters stage. Committee considered whether this could be dealt with 
through the use of appropriate conditions.  
 
Committee discussed the potential implications of the Application on local 
infrastructure and facilities. In this context some Members highlighted the 

Page 6



 

concerns raised by the Chesterfield Royal Hospital NHS Trust about the 
additional demands which the development might place on its services and the 
need for appropriate ‘Section 106’ Agreement funding if the development was to 
take place (or funding provided as part of agreements reached between the 
Council as Planning Authority with developers to carry out specific work to help 
offset the impact of new developments on local people.) 
 
Members discussed the location of the development within the countryside and 
outside the Settlement Development Limit for Calow.  Some Members expressed 
concern that the development would not be in line with the relevant Planning 
Policies.  In particular, they questioned whether the Application would accord with 
Local Plan Policy SS9, requiring developments in the countryside to respect the 
form, scale and character of the landscape. They also questioned whether it 
would accord with Policy LC3, requiring proposals for affordable housing in the 
countryside to have a close association with the built-up part of neighbouring 
settlements and the local landscape setting.  
 
Some Members expressed their support for the proposed development and the 
contribution it would make to providing affordable housing within the District. They 
felt that it would be an appropriate development and that the case for its approval, 
subject to conditions, had been made. 
 
At the conclusion of the discussion Councillor D Ruff and Councillor A Powell 
moved and seconded a Motion to approve the Application, in line with officer 
recommendations. 
 
The Motion was put to the vote and was rejected. 
 
Councillor P Elliot and Councillor M Foster then moved and seconded a Motion to 
reject the Application, contrary to officer recommendations, because of the 
location of the proposed development in the countryside and its impact on the 
landscape. 
 
The Motion was put to the vote and was agreed. 
 
RESOLVED -  
 
That the Application be refused, contrary to officer recommendations 
 
Reasons 
 
The proposed development of 36 affordable dwellings would be located on a 
green field site outside the Settlement Development Limit as defined for Calow in 
the North East Derbyshire Local Plan and so in a countryside location. It is 
considered that the location, scale and design of the proposal would fail to 
respect the form, scale, quality and character of the landscape setting in this 
location. Furthermore the proposal would cause significant harm to the character 
of the landscape setting and result in irreversible changes to important features 
and views from Dark Lane and the surrounding right of way network. As such the 
proposal would fail to comply with policies SS9, SDC3 and LC3 of the North East 
Derbyshire Local Plan and the overarching aims of the National Planning Policy 
Framework.   

Page 7



 

 
PLA/
79/2
2-23 

Planning Appeals - Lodged and Determined 
 
The report to Committee explained that one appeal had been lodged and two 
appeals had been dismissed. 
 

PLA/
80/2
2-23 

Matters of Urgency 
 
None 
 

Page 8



 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE – 14 February 2023 

 
 
REFERENCE NUMBER: 22/00391/FL Application Expiry Date: 06 June 2022 
Application Type: Full Planning Permission 

 
Proposal Description: Cladding of public house, timber lean-to shelter extension, alterations to 

porch, two timber pergola seating structures, structure for forecourt sign, 
trellis fencing on top of stone wall to west boundary, extensions to the 
rear of the public house and rear of Smithy Barn and detached hobby 
workshop and rear 1.8m high close boarded fencing to the northern 
boundary. (Amended Drawings) 

At: Kelstedge Inn, Matlock Road, Kelstedge, Ashover. 
For: Mr Simon Oxspring 
Third Party Reps: 18 Parish: Ashover  
  Ward Name: Ashover 

 
Author of Report:  Case Officer Alice Lockett Date of Report: 27 January 2023 

 

MAIN RECOMMENDATION:           REFUSE   
 

 
Figure 1 Location Plan 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



1.0 Reason for Report  
 

1.1 The application has been called into committee by Councillor Armitage, the 
reason being the impact on the community facility especially with regard to 
the number of alterations. Cllr Armitage has subsequently added impact on 
the landscape as a reason for consideration by committee. 
 

2.0 Proposal and Background 
 

2.1 This application seeks retrospective planning permission to regularize 
horizontal composite cladding to the side of the building, a timber lean-to 
shelter extension, alterations to porch, two timber pergola seating 
structures, structure for forecourt sign, trellis fencing on top of stone wall to 
west boundary, and a rear 1.8m high close boarded fencing to the northern 
boundary.  
 

2.2 Extensions to the rear of the public house and rear of Smithy Barn and a 
detached hobby workshop are also included in the application for which 
building has begun, but not yet completed.  
 

3.0 Relevant Planning History 
 

3.1 00/00121/FL Conditionally Approved 19.04.2000 Proposed extension 
to kitchen, alterations and extension to form conservatory, dining room and 
conversion of barn to form bed and breakfast accommodation (Amended 
Plan)  

 
3.2 03/00992/FL Conditionally Approved 30.09.2003 Proposed Change 

of Use of barn from B + B to one dwelling, erection of porch and retention 
of timber/general storage unit and retention of external staircase to the 
Northern elevation of the public house (Amended Plan) (Amended Title)  

 
3.3 74/00469/FL Conditionally Approved 02.10.1974 Change of use from 

existing recreation room to restaurant.  
 
3.4 75/00648/FL Conditionally Approved 20.01.1976 Extensions and 

alterations to public house and further car parking provision.  
 
3.5 77/00776/AD Refused 13.04.1977 Double sided illuminated 

projecting sign.  
 
3.6 89/00805/FL Conditionally Approved 25.12.1998 Outbuilding External 

alterations  
 
3.7 13/01049/AD Conditionally Approved 08.05.2014 Retention of new 

signs 
 

4.0 Consultation Responses 
 

4.1 Highways: 

Page 10



The amended plans/information don’t include the provision of any 
replacement/additional off-street parking, whilst not ideal it is not 
considered that the under provision of off-street parking would have a 
detrimental impact on highways safety. Nonetheless, in view of the 
increase in seating within the site and decrease in parking levels it is 
recommended the applicant promotes the use of sustainable transport 
modes for customers, visitors, staff etc via a travel plan. 
 
Accordingly, the Highway Authority has no objections to the proposal 
subject to a condition covering the submission of a travel plan.  

 
4.2 Environmental Health: 

Environmental Protection have reviewed the information submitted to 
support the application together with our records and we would make the 
following comments:- 
 
Control of working practices during construction phase 
It is recommended that the following advice is followed to prevent a 
nuisance/ loss of amenity to local residential areas. Please note that the 
Council’s Neighbourhood Enforcement have a legal duty to investigate any 
complaints about noise or dust. If a statutory nuisance is found to exist they 
must serve an Abatement Notice under the Environmental Protection Act 
1990. It is therefore recommended that you give serious consideration to 
the below recommendations and to the steps that may be required to 
prevent a noise nuisance from being created.  
 
(i) Except in case of emergency, operations should not take place on site 
other than between the hours of 08:00 - 18:00 Monday to Friday and 
between 09:00 - 13:00 on Saturdays. There should be no working on 
Sundays or Public Holidays. At times when operations are not permitted 
work shall be limited to maintenance and servicing of plant or other work of 
an essential or emergency nature. The Local Planning Authority should be 
notified at the earliest opportunity of the occurrence of any such 
emergency and a schedule of essential work shall be provided. 
(ii) Heavy goods vehicles should only enter or leave the site between the 
hours of 08:00 - 18:00 on weekdays and 09:00 - 13:00 Saturdays and no 
such movements should take place on or off the site on Sundays or Public 
Holidays (this excludes the movement of private vehicles for personal 
transport). 
(iii) Best practicable means shall be employed to minimise noise and dust 
from construction works 
No waste shell be burnt on site and will be removed by an authorised 
waste contractor. 
Further information can be obtained from: 
https://www.ne-derbyshire.gov.uk/environmental-health/waste-damage-
and-disturbance/nuisance-during-construction-works 
 
Contaminated Land 
The site falls within a coal mining reporting area, dependent on the level of 
ground works required coal authority risk assessment may be required. 

Page 11



(Officer Comment: The site is not in a high risk area for coal, as such the 
Coal Authority have not been consulted.  It is considered that should be 
included as an informative if permission is granted) 
 
Potential for Noise Issues 
Previous EHO comments made on the 24th May 2022 state that: 
“Pro-active steps should be taken to manage any potential noise nuisance 
from customers eating or drinking outside in the new seating/extension 
area/s. Consideration should also be given to any possible music activities 
from the public house. Licensing conditions in regards to live music and or 
entertainment activities should be adhered to. Such actions will mitigate 
any potential disturbance to local neighbouring resident/s and or other 
premises.” 
In addition, the premises would benefit from a noise management plan to 
manage any potential noise issues.  
(Officer Comment: It is considered that should be included as an 
informative if permission is granted) 
 
Lighting 
Environmental Health would advise the applicant refer to the “Guidance 
Note 1 for the reduction of obtrusive light 2021 produced by the Institution 
of Lighting Professionals, as to prevent obtrusive light causing a loss of 
amenity to neighbouring dwellings. 
(Officer Comment: It is considered that should be included as an 
informative if permission is granted) 
 

4.3 Parish Council 
Whilst not supporting retrospective applications, Ashover Parish Council 
supports the initiatives taken during the covid pandemic to keep parish 
businesses active. Members were concerned that car parking spaces in 
the main car park may be diminished and this would cause further on-road 
parking on The Causeway; this may result in a delay for cars exiting the 
A632 to The Causeway. Members did not consider the current grey 
cladding to be compatible with surrounding properties. 
 

5.0 Representations  
2 Objection Comments raising the following: 

 Loss of Parking spaces has resulted in problem parking on the 
causeway, in the car park for the flats and in and around the bus stop.  

 
16 Support Comments summarised: 

 Support for the local pub which is an important community facility 

 Serves, locals and visitors including those to holiday lets and ramblers 

 Fencing provides screening for patrons and local residents 

 The fencing makes people feel safe from the dangerous road 
particularly for children. 

 Pergolas provide areas for visitors who want to sit outside and are a 
good community area where events have been held. 

 Lots of people walk there. 

Page 12



 The last few years have been very challenging and we don’t want to 
lose our local pub. 

 The landlord was pro-active over during the pandemic to keep the pub 
going and provide facilities for locals and visitors. 

 The cladding is fitting to the location and is sympathetic to its 
surroundings 

 I have not experienced parking problems. 

 The building was somewhat shabby  

 Cladding gives the entire property a fresher feel whilst maintaining its 
country charm. The alterations have greatly enhanced the pub facilities 
and amenities. 

 Being on a main road, the façade needed an update giving it a modern 
look but still in keeping with a country vibe 

 Parking anywhere has its risks and I don’t think the loss of a few 
parking spots for outdoor seating would be much of a difference. 

 The issue of parking vehicles on the roads surrounding the pub was 
not a fault of the pub on the whole, but of the people working on the 
building sites and other local businesses who have been seen to park 
without due consideration for other road users. 

 People park at Kelstedge to get the bus to Sheffield 

 Benefits of outside seating outweigh the loss of parking area. 

 Changes including the new kitchen facilities can only be seen as an 
improvement to sustain this local business as a vital part of the local 
community. 

 
6.0 Relevant Policy and Strategic Context 

 
6.1 Ashover Neighbourhood Plan 

AP1 Development within Limits to Development 
AP11 Design 
AP13 Landscape Character  
AP16 Dry Stone Walls 
 

6.2 The North East Derbyshire District Local Plan (2014-2034)  
SS1 Sustainable Development 
SS7 Development on Unallocated Land within Settlement with defined 
Settlement Development Limits 
SDC3 Landscape Character 
SDC11 Flood Risk and Drainage 
SDC12 High Quality Design and Place Making 
SDC14 Land potentially affected by Contamination or Instability 
ID3 Sustainable Travel 

 
6.3 National Planning Policy Framework 

The overarching aims of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
are also material in the assessment of this application and have been 
taken into account. 
 
 

Page 13



7.0  Planning Issues  
 
Principle of Development 

7.1 North East Derbyshire Local Plan (LP) Policy SS1 states that in order to 
contribute to sustainable development in North East Derbyshire 
developments proposals will: Meet development needs within defined 
settlements; support the local economy by contributing to business 
expansion and growth; promote social and economic well-being of 
communities; create well-designed places; protect and enhance the 
character, quality and settings of towns and villages; and protect and 
enhance the character, quality and diversity of the District’s Green 
Infrastructure and local landscape and the wider countryside. 
 

7.2 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) paragraph 126 states 
that the creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process 
should achieve. 

 
7.3 The underlying premise of the Ashover Neighbourhood Plan (ANP) is to 

seek to ensure sustainable development within the Parish that meets the 
needs of current and future generations, whilst protecting and enhancing 
the natural, built and historic environment (ANP p3). 
 

7.4 The Kelstedge Inn is located within the Settlement Development Limits for 
Kelstedge. Here LP Policy SS9 supports proposals for development within 
Settlement Development Limits provided that the proposed development is 
appropriate in scale, design and location to the character and function of 
the settlement. 

 
7.5 ANP Policy AP1 supports development within the settlement development 

limits for Kelstedge where it can be demonstrated that it respects the 
shape and form of the relevant settlement in order to maintain its 
distinctive character and enhance it where possible. 

 
7.6 As a consequence, whilst it is considered that the principal of development 

is acceptable in this part of Kelstedge, it is necessary to make an 
assessment as to whether the design meets the requirements of national, 
local and neighbourhood planning policies. 
 

7.7 It is also location within an area of landscape identified by Derbyshire 
County Council as a Primary Area of Multiple Environmental Sensitivity 
(AMES) which means it is within part of the district’s most valued 
landscape. 
 

7.8 LP Policy SDC3 only permits new development which it would not would 
not cause significant harm to the character, quality, distinctiveness or 
sensitivity of the landscape, or to important features or views, or other 
perceptual qualities such as tranquillity. Development proposals should be 
informed by, and be sympathetic to, the distinctive landscape areas 
identified in the Derbyshire Landscape Character Assessment and the 

Page 14



AMES, and contribute, where appropriate, to the conservation and 
enhancement, or restoration and re-creation of the local landscape taking 
into account its wider landscape character type. 
 

7.9 The Kelstedge Inn is located in a prominent position in the centre of the 
settlement as a consequence it is the building around which the rest of the 
village is clustered. It is highly visible from the A623 Matlock Road which 
runs past it to the west. 
 

7.10 This part of Kelstedge is characterised by stone built, simple cottages to 
the east of Matlock Road. Less prominent are the mid-20th Century houses 
to the south which are also built of stone.  To the east of the Kelstedge inn 
is a small block of mid to late 20th century social housing flats which are 
also finished in stone. This block is viewed in conjunction with the 
Kelstedge Inn when viewing from the North but is less obvious from the 
south. 
 

7.11 The landscape here is characterized as the Wooded Slopes & Valleys 
character type of the Peak Fringe & Lower Derwent Landscape Character 
Area. Within the Wooded Slopes and Valleys type settlements are 
disperse with scattered stone built farmstead and small hamlets nestled 
into the hillsides, small scale industry such as quarrying is evident. 
Kelstedge as a good example of a settlement typical of this landscape type 
being a small hamlet closely associated with the small scale industrial past 
of this part of the district. 

 

7.12 Before the works subject to this application were carried out, the building 
was of a simple design finished in stone on the front elevation and white 
painted render of the side and rear elevations. There had been some 
additions to the building including extension to the rear (mostly below the 
level of the road due to the hillside location) and a porch on the front 
elevation. The area to the front of the building was open with space for a 
small number of benches close to the building and a car park for 
approximately 9 vehicles.  Boundary treatments including a traditional 
drystone wall with vegetation above in places.  Although the original 
building was not considered worthy of historic protection, it is a building 
which fits well into its location at the heart of a village, constructed from 
traditional materials.  

 
Cladding works 

Page 15



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Figure 2 Horizontal composite cladding 

7.13 Horizontal grey composite cladding has been installed on the west and 
north elevations of the building (see Figure 2 above and 3 below). The 
local vernacular is one of traditional stone built buildings. There are no 
other examples of cladding in the immediate area and the location of the 
dwelling and cladding is highly prominent in the surrounding street scene 
(see Figure 3 below).  
 

 
Figure 3 The Kelstedge Inn is clearly visible from Matlock Road to the south west 

7.14 The horizontal grey composite cladding is not considered in keeping with 
the local stone vernacular and given there are no other examples of 
cladding in the area and cladding is not a traditional building type of the 
wider landscape. As such it is considered that the cladding is not informed 
by or sympathetic to the distinctive landscape area or in keeping with the 
built traditions of the area. The light colour and synthetic appearance of the 
materials used makes the cladding stand out, whist the use of darker grey 
verge edging serves to emphasise the impact of the cladding. This is 
particularly evident on the chimney (see Figure 2 above) where the added 
width of the cladding has created an awkward squat appearance, which is 

Page 16



considered out of keeping with the rest of the building and the local 
vernacular. Added to this, the cladding is of a poor finish which further 
detracts from its appearance in the wider street scene. As it is made of a 
synthetic composite material it is considered that the cladding is unlikely to 
weather remaining prominent and jarring in the street scene. 
 

7.15 As discussed above, the impact of the cladding is made worse by its 
location on the side of the building facing Matlock Road as a consequence 
it is a prominent jarring feature in the landscape and street scene. As a 
consequence it is considered that the cladding does not respond positively 
to local character and context and as such does not preserve or enhance 
the quality and identity of the local community, further it is considered that 
due to its prominent location the cladding harms the character, quality and 
distinctiveness of the landscape. As such the proposed cladding would fail 
to accord with policies SS7 and SDC12 of the LP and policies AP1, AP11 
and AP13 of the ANP.   
 

Timber lean-to shed extension Pergolas and other timber features 
including fencing  

 

 
Figure 4 Timber features have been constructed in the car park. 

7.16 A Timber lean-to shed extension to the side of the host building and 
Timber pergolas/swings were constructed in the car park and outside area 
to the front of the building during the Covid19 pandemic, see Figure 4 
above.  
 

7.17 The applicant considers that this was in line with government policy which 
encouraged outside drinking/eating. Officers agree that for a short time 
(until the end January 2022) the Government supported the provision of 
moveable structures within the curtilage of drinking establishments under 
the General Permitted Development Order (England). However this 
permitted development right expired at the end of January 2022 and has 
not been replaced by any further permitted development rights. As such, it 

Page 17



is considered that the government only intended this use during the 
specific special circumstance of the Covid19 pandemic and there was no 
intention that buildings for this purpose should continue to operate after the 
end of restrictions in gathering inside etc, without first receiving the 
necessary planning permissions. 
 

7.18 It is considered that the timber structures create a cluttered appearance to 
the front of the principal elevation which serve to detract from the simple 
character of the building. The unpainted timber finishes introduces another 
material to the mixture on the site adding the impression of clutter. This is 
exacerbated by the location of the timber structures close to the boundary 
with Matlock Road (see Figure 5 below) where they are prominent in views 
from passing road users. It is therefore considered that the structures fail 
to respond positively to local character and context to preserve or enhance 
the quality of the area and are not well related to the site and surroundings 
in terms of form and choice of materials. 
 

 
Figure 5 View of close boarded fence from Matlock Road to the north west 

7.19 A number of different fencing types have been added to the boundary with 
Matlock Road, this includes close boarded fencing around the land to the 
rear of the building to the north and trellis with fake vegetation bounding 
the car park to the south. Due to the height of this fencing and its proximity 
to the highway some of this fencing requires planning permission. It is 
proposed to paint the fence to match the cladding although this has yet to 
be carried out.  
 

7.20 Notwithstanding the concerns about the cladding, this may help to tie the 
fencing into the rest of the site, however the light grey colour would be 
dominant in the wider street scene. As a consequence it is considered that 
the fence design and finish adds another material type to the already 
cluttered appearance of the site. The close boarded fencing to the north 
particularly does nothing to preserve or enhance the quality of the area 
and would be contrary to policy SS7 and SDC12 of the LP and policies 
AP1, AP11 and AP13 of the ANP. To the north the fence has replaced an 
attractive drystone wall which are indicative of the landscape type and 
supported by policy AP16 in the Ashover Neighbourhood Plan. 

 

Forecourt Sign 

Page 18



 

7.21 A structure to house a sign on the forecourt to the front of the building 
fronting Matlock Road has been constructed, this is a timber structure with 
slate roof located where a smaller sign has been located for a number of 
years. It is considered that on its own this structure is acceptable due to its 
size, however combined with the other timber structures and fencing on 
the site it adds to the impression of clutter and as a consequence it fails to 
preserve or enhance the quality and local identity of the area which would 
be at odds with policy SS7and SDC12 of the LP and policy AP1 and AP11 
of the ANP. 
 

Porch 
7.22 The proposal seeks to regularise the porch structure to the front elevation 

of the building (see Figure 6 below). This has seen the existing porch 
extended to increase its height by forming a pitched roof. Previously the 
porch was of a simple design with a rendered finished which, whist not 
particularly attractive, was proportionate and subservient to the host 
building. The new porch has been clad in vertical timber cladding and 
painted dark grey, different again to the composite cladding used on the 
building.  
 

7.23 Whilst it is considered that the principle of extending the porch may be 
acceptable, its design and materials are incongruous with the existing 
simple stone building and the height has served to obscure views of the 
first floor windows above. As a consequence the porch dominates the 
principal elevation of the building and is therefore not considered to be well 
related to its site and surroundings in terms of height, form, materials and 
scale. The painted timber cladding adds another material and finish to the 
already cluttered appearance of the site as a whole, which would be at 
odds with the built character of the surrounding village (see Figure 7 
below). 

 
Figure 6 New Porch 

Page 19



 

 
Figure 7 view from Matlock Road 

7.24 In conclusion, it is considered that as a whole the cladding and timber 
structures including fencing fail to respond positively to local character and 
context to preserve and, where possible, enhance the quality and local 
identity of existing communities and their surroundings (SDC12) and they 
fail to respect the shape and form of the relevant settlement in order to 
maintain its distinctive character and enhance it where possible as 
required by ANP policy AP1, and as such causes an unacceptable visual 
intrusion in to the landscape (AP13). As a consequence, it is considered 
that together these features, not being informed by or sympathetic to the 
distinctive landscape area, cause significant harm to the character, quality, 
distinctiveness and sensitivity of the landscape setting and as such fail to 
meet the requirements of LP policy SDC3 and ANP policy AP13.   
 

Extension to the rear of the public house and rear of Smithy Barn and 
detached Hobby Workshop 

7.25 Single storey extensions are proposed to the Kelstedge Inn and Smithy 
barn in the area to the rear of both properties. These extensions will create 
a larger kitchen and new reception room area within the public house. 
These additions are set below the level of the surrounding land and as 
such the buildings will be below ground level. The applicant has proposed 
two roof top terraces one which will serve Smithy Barn and the other on 
top of the workshop bounding Matlock Road which will also serve as 
amenity space for Smithy Barn. It is considered that due to their location 
below ground these extensions will not have a harmful impact on the 
character of the building and the area. It is also considered that the use of 
the rooftops as terraces will not have a harmful impact on the character of 
the area. 

 
7.26 Notwithstanding the comments regarding the close boarded fence as 

outlined above, it is considered that suitable mitigating fencing could be 
conditioned to ensure that this area is well screened from public view and 

Page 20



that the use of the roof tops as terraces will not impact the privacy and 
amenity of surrounding neighbours. 

 
Kitchen Extraction Flue 

7.27 An extraction flue is proposed to the side elevation towards the rear of the 
existing building. It is considered that if appropriately designed and 
finished in a recessive colour this will be acceptable and that details for the 
flue could be agreed by condition if necessary. 

  
Highways 

7.28 LP Policy SDC12 (e) and (k) only permits development which protects the 
amenity of existing occupiers and makes provision for vehicle and cycle 
parking.  In this case the new reception room will add approximately 
50sqm of indoor public area to the existing public house. Derbyshire 
County council Highways parking standards require 1 customer parking 
space per 4sqm of public area plus one staff car space per 10 tables. By 
this measure, the increase in indoor public area alone requires 12 
additional parking spaces to be provided on site.  Added to this, the 
construction of the timber pergolas on the carpark to the front of the 
building has resulted in a further increase in the seating area, but also 
results in the loss of 3 existing parking spaces.  
 

7.29 Whilst this may have been acceptable during Covid19 restrictions when 
people were encouraged to travel locally with the removal of these 
restrictions the parking pressures on site has had the effect of increasing 
on road parking both on The Causeway to the south and the B6036 to the 
north and east, which is particularly evident at times when the pub is busy.  
It is considered that this additional on street parking is harmful to the 
amenity of local residents and as such fails to meet the requirements of LP 
policy SDC12. 
 

7.30 The Highway Authority have noted that the provision of extra parking has 
not been included in the application however they are of the view that the 
under provision of off-street parking would not have a detrimental impact 
on highway safety. They have recommended that should permission be 
granted a Travel Plan should be drawn up to promote sustainable travel to 
and from the pub.  

 

Mitigating circumstances 
7.31 Neighbourhood, Local and National planning policies aim to support 

businesses and encourage, investment and through appropriate 
expansion. The Kelstedge Inn is considered an important community 
facility in the Ashover Neighbourhood Plan and it is acknowledged that 
there is a lot of local support for the proposed works and the business. 
 

7.32 In this case, the submitted planning statement has indicated that the works 
to introduce covered outside seating areas were prompted by Covid19 
restrictions. No evidence has been put forward to suggest that the loss of 
these features, now that there are no rules restricting gatherings inside, 

Page 21



would cause such damage to the viability of the business that it would be 
likely to close.  
  

7.33 There are no objections to the expansion of the inside space with the new 
kitchen and reception room and indeed the removal of the outside seating 
areas would return the parking spaces required to serve the inside seating. 
 

7.34 It is therefore considered that there is no evidence to outweigh the harm 
caused to the character building, the character of the settlement of 
Kelstedge and the wider landscape harm of the timber structures, new 
porch and cladding. 

 
Environmental Health 

7.35 The Environmental Health officer has no objections to the development but 
has requested conditions to prevent nuisance to local residents while work 
is being carried out.   
 

7.36 Potential noise and lighting from the outside seating is regulated by 
Environmental Health Legislation. If permission is be granted, an 
informative should be included to remind the applicant that noise and 
lighting should not have a harmful impact on the amenity of neighbours. 

 
Flood Risk 

7.37 The site is located within flood zone 1 and is therefore not considered at 
risk from or a risk to flooding.  

  
8.0 Summary and Conclusion  

 
8.1 Local and National Planning policy supports development proposals within 

settlement development limits which are appropriate in scale and design to 
the character and function of the settlement. Local and national planning 
policy also places great weight on the importance of good design to 
sustainable development. 
 

8.2 In this case whilst extensions to the rear of the building are considered 
acceptable the changes carried out and proposed to the external 
appearance of the building (cladding and porch), fencing and timber 
structures to the side and front of the building and in the car park are 
considered to be out of character with the simple nature of the building and 
not well related to the site and its surroundings.   
 

8.3 The cumulative effect of the cladding, porch and timber structures 
constructed of a variety of materials with differencing finishes creates a 
cluttered appearance which is out of keeping with the character of the area 
and due to its prominent location on the main Matlock to Chesterfield Road 
the cumulative impact harms the character of the valued landscape in 
which its sited. 
 

Page 22



8.4 The loss of parking spaces and increase in parking requirements resulting 
from extra internal and external space has a harmful impact on the amenity 
of neighbours by forcing parking onto the highway. 
 

8.5 Whist it accepted that during the Covid19 Pandemic it was reasonable to 
allow the temporary timber structures to provide outside seating during 
gathering restrictions, this requirement is no longer necessary and there is 
no evidence that the loss of the timber structures would have such great 
impact on the business as to result in its loss. As such, it is considered that 
there are no mitigating circumstances against the harm caused by the 
development.  
 

8.6 As a consequence of the above, it is recommended that the proposal be 
refused. 
 

9.0 Recommendation 
 

9.1 REFUSE for the following reason: 
 

9.2 As a whole the cladding and timber structures including fencing fail to 
respond positively to local character and context to preserve the quality 
and local identity of Kelstedge and they fail to respect the shape and form 
of the settlement in order to maintain or enhance its distinctive character. 
As a consequence it is considered that together these features, not being 
informed by or sympathetic to the distinctive landscape area cause 
significant harm to the character, quality, distinctiveness or sensitivity of the 
landscape. The loss of parking spaces and increase in parking 
requirements resulting from extra internal and external space has a harmful 
impact on the amenity of neighbours by pushing parking onto the highway. 
As a consequence the proposed development fails to meet the 
requirements of North East Derbyshire Local Plan Policies SS7, SDC3 and 
SDC12; and Ashover Neighbourhood Plan Policies AP1, AP11 and AP13. 
  

 

Page 23



 
 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE – 14th February 2023 

 
 
REFERENCE NUMBER: 22/01164/FL Application Expiry Date: 25/01/2023 
Application Type: Full Planning Permission 

 
Proposal Description: Conversion and extension of existing barn to form a single residential 

dwelling and erection of new storage barn (Revised scheme of 
21/00713/FL) (Private Drainage System) 

At: 
 

Alice Head Farm 
Alicehead Road 
Ashover 
Chesterfield 
S45 0DQ 

For: J & A Mason 
Third Party Reps: 0 Parish: Ashover Parish Council 
  Ward Name: Ashover Ward 

 
Author of Report:  Case Officer Alice Lockett Date of Report: 24/01/2023 

 

MAIN RECOMMENDATION:           Refuse 
 

 
Figure 1 Location Plan 

Page 24

Agenda Item 5



 

 
1.0 REASON FOR REPORT  

 
1.1 This application has been called into committee by Councilor Armitage 

with the reason being the impact on the landscape 
 

2.0 PROPOSAL AND BACKGROUND  
 

2.1 This application seeks permission for the conversion to a dwelling of a 
building which formerly comprised of a traditional barn with a more modern 
agricultural extension. Whilst indicated on the submitted plans the 
extension to the barn is no longer in situ and the application site now 
comprises solely the traditional building. 
 

2.2 A storage building is also proposed which would be located to the east of 
building proposed for conversion within the proposed curtilage/garden of 
the new dwelling. 
 

2.3 Alice Head Farm is located to the north of Alicehead Road, itself accessed 
of the main Chesterfield to Matlock Road north of Kelstedge. It is a 
farmstead which comprises the main farm house with traditional buildings 
forming a courtyard to the front. To the rear of the eastern barn (subject to 
this application) was a modern agricultural extension). To the south west  is 
a further large modern barn. 
 

2.4 Applications were submitted in 2021 to convert both traditional barns to 
dwellings, the application for the barn to the west was refused consent due 
to the landscape impact of extensions proposed  whilst a permission was 
granted for conversion of the historic part of the eastern barn (the 
application site) with a small modern extension to the rear. 
 

2.5 This application now seeks consent for the conversion of the  building with 
a significant rear extension that would extend to the limits of the former 
utilitarian extemnsions that have now been removed. The application 
therefore seeks consent for the conversion and extension of the traditional 
barn. 
 

3.0 RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY 
 

3.1.1 21/00713/FL Decision Date: 28.10.2022 Conversion of existing barn to 
form a single residential dwelling to include demolition of lean-to cow shed 
and addition of a single storey extension (Amended Plans) (Amended Title) 
Conditionally Approved 
 

3.1.2 21/00775/FL Decision Date: 21.03.2022 Conversion and extension of 
existing stone barn to form residential dwelling (Amended Plans). Refused 
 

4.0 CONSULTATION RESPONSES 
 

Page 25



4.1 DCC Highways: Both the new proposal and the previous proposal is the 
same as evident from the drawings submitted in support of application 
21/00713/FL i.e., scheme shown on the plan AHF_B2_BLOCK_V3 and the 
revised proposal shown on the plan AHF_B2_BLOCK_V4. Therefore, the 
Highway Authority has no objection subject to the conditions agreed for 
21/00713/FL required to be appended for 22/01164/FL. 
 

4.2 EHO: Previous comments made in regards application 21/00713/FL still 
apply 
 

4.3 Parish Council: No Comment 
 

4.4 NEDDC Planning Policy Comment: Local Plan Policy LC4 encourages the 
development of self and custom build dwellings. At the end of the last base 
period (30th October 2021), there were sufficient self and custom build 
permissions to meet the demand on the register at 30th October 2021, but 
without the supply of further self and custom build permissions there will be 
a shortfall at future years. 
 

5.0 REPRESENTATIONS 
  

5.1 No comments received 
 

6.0 RELEVANT POLICY AND STRATEGIC CONTEXT 
 

6.1 The Development Plan comprises the Ashover Neighbourhood Plan and 
the North East Derbyshire Local Plan. The most relevant polices in this 
case are as follows: 
 
 

6.2 Ashover Neighbourhood Plan 
AP2 Development Proposals outside the Limits to Development 
AP11 Design 
AP13 Landscape Character  
AP16 Dry Stone Walls 
AP19 Dark Skies 
 

6.3 North East Derbyshire Local Plan 
SS1 Sustainable Development 
SS2 Spatial Strategy and the Distribution of Development 
SS9 Development in the Countryside 
SDC1 Re-use and Conversion of Buildings in the Green Belt and 
Countryside 
SDC3 Landscape Character 
SDC12 High Quality Design and Place Making 
SDC14 Land potentially affected by Contamination or Instability 
 

6.4 NPPF 

Page 26



The overarching aims of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
are also material in the assessment of this application and have been 
taken into account. 
 

7.0  PLANNING ISSUES  
 

 
 

Figure 2 Alice Head farm as viewed from Alicehead Road 

 
7.1 Alice Head Farm is located outside of any Settlement Development Limits 

and is therefore within the countryside for planning purposes. The site is 
also located within the Enclosed Moors and Heaths Landscape Character 
type of the Peak District and Lower Derwent Valley Landscape Character 
Area and within the Primary Area of Multiple Environmental Sensitivity 
(AMES). As such, it is considered to be within the district’s most valued 
and important landscape. The site is clearly and readily visible from 
Alicehead Road and from footpath NE1/125/2 to the west and north. 

 
Principal of Development-Barn Conversion 
 
7.2 Local Plan (LP) Policy supports development in the countryside which 

involved the re-use of building and accords with policy SDC1 provided that 
acceptable development respects the form, scale and character of the 
landscape 
 

7.3 Ashover Neighbourhood Plan (ANP) AP2 states that land outside the 
defined settlement limits will be treated as countryside which will be 
protected for the sake of its intrinsic character and beauty.  This policy 
supports the reuse of redundant or underused buildings where 
development is not seriously intrusive in the countryside. 
 

Page 27



7.4 The local and neighborhood plans therefore support the principal of the 
conversion of the barn to a dwelling.  The decision maker therefore needs 
to assess whether the proposal meets the requirements of the conversion 
policies and if the resulting dwelling would have an acceptable impact on 
the valued landscape 

 
Suitability of Conversion 
 
7.5 LP Policy SDC1 supports the reuse and conversion of buildings in the 

countryside provided they are: 
a. they are of permanent and substantial construction; 
b. they are structurally sound, and capable of re-use without major 
alterations, adaptations or re-construction; 
c. their form, bulk and design is, or can be made to be, in keeping with their 
surroundings; 
d. conversion or adaptation will not be detrimental to the character of the 
building itself or its setting; 
e. they preserve the openness and character of the Green Belt and 
Countryside; 
f. the new use would not result in replacement farm buildings or 
inappropriate outside storage of any materials, machinery and / or vehicles 
that would cause harm to the Green Belt and Countryside; and 
g. provision is made for nesting boxes and roosts for protected species 
such as barn owls and bats, where appropriate 

 
Criterion (a) 
 
7.6 In this case a structural survey has been submitted showing that the 

retained building is structurally sound. It is therefore considered on that 
basis that the stone built section of the barn proposed for conversion is of a 
permanent and substantial construction and in principle there is no 
objection to its conversion and indeed this has been approved as a 
consequence of planning permission 21/00713/FL.   

 

Page 28



 
 

Figure 3 the modern extension proposed for conversion has been demolished 

 
7.7 At the time of the approval of 21/00713/FL it was considered that the 

utilitarian extensions to the barn were not suitable for conversion due to 
their poor method of construction and the materials used. This conclusion 
has been borne out by the fact that the former extension to the rear of the 
stone building has now been demolished as shown in Figure 3 above. The 
alternative of permitting a limited extension in their place was at that time 
considered an appropriate alternative to retaining those structures and 
consent granted accordingly.  

 
7.8 As that element of the building has now been demolished, it no longer, in 

the opinion of Officers, merits weight being given to its loss.  
 
Criterion (b) 
7.9 The extension now proposed represents an approximate 60% increase in 

the size of the building. As a consequence it is considered that the 
extension represents a major alteration/extension to the building and fails 
the requirements of criterion (b)  
 

Criterion (f) 
7.10 Criterion (f) states that the conversion would not result in replacement farm 

buildings or outside storage. In this case a storage building measuring 7m 
x 7m height 3m has been proposed located away from the built form to the 
east of the barn proposed for conversion. It has not been stated what this 
building will be used to store but it is agricultural in design. As a 
consequence it is concluded that the proposal would result in a 
replacement storage building and therefore fails to meet the requirements 
of policy SDC1. 

 
Impact on the landscape 

Page 29



 
7.11 LP Policy SDC3 only supports new development where it would not cause 

significant harm to the character, quality, distinctiveness or sensitivity of the 
landscape, or to important features or views, or other perceptual qualities 
such as tranquility. This policy expects that development proposals should 
be informed by, and be sympathetic to, the distinctive landscape areas 
identified in the Derbyshire Landscape Character Assessment and the 
AMES and contribute, where appropriate, to the conservation and 
enhancement, or restoration and re-creation of the local landscape taking 
into account its wider landscape character type. 
 

7.12 LP policy SDC12 states that proposals for development will only be 
permitted where they: Respond positively to local character and context to 
preserve and, where possible, enhance the quality and local identity of 
existing communities and their surroundings. And where they: Create good 
design which is well-related to its site and surroundings in terms of its 
layout, form, height, massing, scale, plot size, elevational treatment, 
materials. 

 
7.13 ANP policy AP11 states that buildings and extensions to existing buildings 

should follow a consistent design approach in the use of materials, design 
and the roofline. Materials should be chosen to complement the design of a 
development and add to the quality or character of the surrounding 
environment. 

 
7.14 ANP policy AP 13 requires that development proposals demonstrate that 

they respect the distinctive landscape character of the area as identified in 
the Derbyshire Peak Fringe and Lower Derwent Landscape Character 
Area. Impact upon the landscape will be assessed having regard to the 
extent to which the development would cause an unacceptable visual 
intrusion. 
 

7.15 In this case little detail has been submitted as to what materials will be 
used to construct and finish the proposed extension as a consequence it is 
not possible to make a positive assessment of their impact. 

 
7.16 The building will be visible from Alicehead Road although from these views 

it will be partially obscured by existing trees. However, the building and 
extension would be clearly visible for by walkers on footpath NE1/125/2 
particularly those heading south (see Fig 4 below).  From this view point 
the large openings in the north east facing elevation and the 8 skylights will 
be particularly noticeable as would the overall bulk and massing of the new 
extension. 
 

Page 30



 
 

Figure 4 view of the site from footpath NE1/125/2 to the north 

 
7.17 As described above the proposed development represents a large 

extension on the north eastern elevation of the barn that would be clearly 
visible from publically accessible viewpoints. Due to its size and design it is 
considered that the extension would fail to respect the host building and 
does not appear to be informed by or sympathetic to the valued landscape.  
Insufficient detail about materials has been provided to make a full 
assessment as to whether the materials used would have any mitigating 
effect. As a consequence it is considered that the proposed extension fails 
to meet the requirements of LP policies SDC3 or SDC12 or ANP policies 
AP11 and AP13. 
 
 

Fall Back Position 
 

Page 31



 
Figure 5 Approved extension 

 
Figure 6 Proposed extension 

7.18 The applicant has a fallback position in respect of the conversion of 
the barn with a small extension approved under permission 21/00713/FL. 
This is shown above in Figure 5. However the extension approved in that 
case was much smaller than that now proposed (Figure 6 above), 
particularly in terms of its depth and width and when viewed from the 
footpath to the rear would have appeared as subservient to the host 
building. As a consequence it is considered that this fallback position 

Page 32



should be given very little weight in this case as it is significant smaller than 
the extension now proposed.  

Garden 
7.19  The proposed garden for the new dwelling is proposed to be located to the 

south east of the barn. It will therefore be clearly visible from Alicehead 
Road in particular. This is in contrast to the approved garden which was to 
the north-west and therefore partially obscured by the building itself.  
However, it is clear that this area of land is part of the traditional garden 
which served the original farmhouse and it has the character of a more 
domestic kitchen garden. The area is bounded by a drystone wall which 
separates it from the agricultural land surrounding. As a consequence of 
this it is considered that the use of this area as a garden to any new 
property would not have a detrimental impact on the character of the 
landscape. 
 

New Storage Building 
 

 
Figure 7 block plan showing new storage building in eastern corner of proposed garden 

 
7.20  LP policy SS9 is supportive of development in the countryside if it is 
necessary for the viable operation of an agricultural business. In all cases 
development is required to respect the form, scale and character of the 
landscape.  However it is not clear what use the proposed storage building 
would have. Although it has some elements of an agricultural building 
(cladding on concrete plinth) it is wholly enclosed with one large opening 
which gives the impression of a more domestic or industrial use (See Fig 8 
below).    

Page 33



 
 

Figure 8 Storage building elevation drawings 

 

7.21 The building would be located in the eastern corner of the proposed 
garden separated from all existing built form.  Due to its location the 
storage building would be clearly visible from Alicehead Road as well as 
from footpath NE1/125/2 to the north and will be read as a separate 
modern industrial style building. 

 
7.22 As a consequence it would not be well related to the proposed 
building and due to its scale and design would not appear informed by or 
sympathetic to the valued landscape in which it would be located. It is 
therefore considered that the building does not meet the requirements of 
LP policies SS9, SDC3 or SDC12 or ANP policies AP11 and AP13. 
 

Self and custom build 
 

7.23 The new dwelling would represent a self-build unit and so count 
towards the council’s self and custom build targets for which there is 
expected to be a short fall going forward. However it is considered the 
limited impact that one new unit would have on the overall aims in respect 
of self and custom build housing does not outweigh the harms outlined 
above. 
 

Amenity of Neighbours 
 

7.24 The relationship of the converted barn with the host dwelling – 
Alicehead Farm house has been considered. It is considered that the 
distance and orientation of the buildings, together with the positioning of 
the proposed windows are such that the proposal will not adversely impact 
the amenity of neighbouring properties. The proposed plan is therefore 
considered to be in accordance with policy SDC12. 
 

Highways 
 

7.25 A passing place on the north side of the existing track adjacent to 
the existing large barn has been provided. The site allows for adequate 
parking provision. The Highways Authority raise no objection to the 

Page 34



proposal subject to conditions.  The proposal is therefore considered to be 
compliant with Local Plan Policy SDC12 

 
Contaminated Land 
 

7.26 Given the previous historical commercial use of the site, the 
Environmental Health Officer recommends that a contaminated land 
assessment is carried out, and a remediation scheme submitted and 
carried out if contamination is identified. 
 

Biodiversity 
 

7.27 Derbyshire Wildlife Trust are yet to comment on the current 
application, however they did comment on the same ecological report for 
application 21/00713/FL as follows: We have reviewed the Bat Emergence 
survey undertaken by Arc Ecology October 2021. The two surveys were 
undertaken at the appropriate time of the year and included use of four 
surveyors. The emergence surveys did not detect any evidence of bat 
roosts directly associated with either of the buildings surveyed. We 
consider that the report provides the Council with a reasonable degree of 
confidence that bats will not be affected by the proposed development. 
We support the advice provided in the report under the Constraints and 
Recommendations section and advise that the development should be 
carried out in accordance with those recommendations.  
 
7.28 It is likely that the comments of DWT in this case will mirror those 
previously made. As such, it is considered that should permission be 
granted these recommendations can be secured by condition as can the 
provision of bat and bird boxes required by policy SDC3. 

     
8.0 SUMMARY AND CONCLUSION  

  
8.1 Both local and national Planning policy supports the conversion of 

buildings within the countryside provided that the buildings are capable of  
conversion without the need for major alterations or adaptation  and 
providing their design is in keeping with their surroundings and not 
detrimental to the building or its setting.. 
 

8.2 In this case although the application is for a conversion, part of the building 
has been demolished and therefore can no longer be considered as a 
conversion and must be assessed as a new extension to the remaining 
barn. 

 
8.3 It is considered that due to its size the extension alone comprises a major 

alteration/adaptation and therefore this element alone means the scheme 
as a whole does not meet the requirements of Local Plan policy SDC1. 
 
8.4 In addition, due to its size, bulk and design the extension does not 
respect the host building and is not appear to be informed by or 
sympathetic to the host building or the landscape character of the area. As 

Page 35



such it fails to meet the requirements of Local Plan Policies SDC3 and 
SDC12 and Ashover Neighbourhood Plan policies AP11 and AP13. 

 
8.5 The size and scale of the extension weigh heavily against the 
scheme as a whole therefore, even though the conversion of the original 
stone barn has some. Officers pace little weight on the fall back of the 
permitted extension to the barn due to its limited size and scale and its 
obviously subservient character to the main element of the building.  
 
8.6  The exact use of the proposed storage building is unclear however 
even if it is for agricultural use policy SS9 of the LP requires that it should 
respect the form, scale and character of the landscape. 

 
8.7 Due to its size, design and siting away from other buildings it is 
considered that the proposed storage building represents an unacceptable 
feature in the local landscape. This too is considered to be contrary to 
policies SS9, SDC3 and SDC12 of the LP and Ashover Neighbourhood 
Plan policies AP2, AP11 and AP13. This adds weight to the Officer 
conclusion on the scheme as a whole. 
 

 
8.8 Therefore, as a whole, it is considered that the application is not 
acceptable and contrary to the relevant policies of the Development Plan 
and there are no other factors that outweigh that conclusion in this case. 
Accordingly, it is recommended that the application be refused. 

 
9.0 RECOMMENDATION 

 
9.1 REFUSE the application for the following reasons: 

 
1. The application is considered unacceptable as, by reason of the size, 

scale and design of the extension put forward, the proposal would 
result in major alterations and adaptations taking place to the building 
in a manner that is not in keeping with its surroundings and be 
detrimental to the character of the building exacerbated by the 
prominent and visually prominent location of the building close to the 
local public right network. 

 
As such, it is contrary to policies SS1, SS9, SDC1, SDC3 and SDC12 
of North East Derbyshire Local Plan and policies AP2, AP11 and AP12 
of the Ashover Neighbourhood Plan and there are no other material 
factors that outweigh that consideration. 

 
2. The application is considered unacceptable as, by reason of the size, 

scale and design of the new storage building proposed and its location 
away from other built development it would unacceptably impact on the 
character of the area.   

 
As such, it is contrary to policies SS1, SS9, SDC1, SDC3 and SDC12 
of North East Derbyshire Local Plan and policies AP2, AP11 and AP12 

Page 36



of the Ashover Neighbourhood Plan and there are no other material 
factors that outweigh that consideration. 

 
 

Page 37



 
 

 
PLANNING COMMITTEE – 14th February 2023 

 
 
REFERENCE NUMBER: 22/01190/FL Application Expiry Date: 8/2/2023 
Application Type: Full Planning Permission 

 
Proposal Description: Conversion of barn to dwelling (Revised scheme of 22/00504/FL) 
At: 
 

Moor Grange, Doehole Lane, Brakenfield 

For: Mr and Mrs Eales 
 

Third Party Reps: 1 Parish: Ashover 
  Ward Name: Ashover 

 
Author of Report: 
 

Case Officer - Alice Lockett Date of Report: 25 January 2023 

 

MAIN RECOMMENDATION:           GRANT   
 
 
 

 
Figure 1 Location Plan 

Page 38

Agenda Item 6



  

 
1.0 Reason for Report  
1.1 This application has been called in to committee by Councillor Armitage 

reasons being, impact on the landscape and massing. 
 
2.0 Proposal and Background 
2.1 The application site is a former agricultural or equestrian building set within 

the grounds of Moor Grange, a 19th Century property which has a number of 
associated traditional and modern agricultural/equestrian outbuildings.  The 
site is located to the north of the A615 Doehole Lane and is at an elevation 
position approximately 150m from the road. 
.  

2.2 This application seeks permission to convert a traditional barn/equestrian 
building to a 3 bedroom dwelling. The dwelling will be separate from Moor 
Grange although it does sit within land associated with that property. 
 

2.3 This application is a resubmission of application 22/00504/FL which was 
refused in October 2022. 
 

3.0 Relevant Planning History 
3.1 80/00064/FL Refused 08.01.1981 Rehabilitation of derelict farmhouse.  
3.2 96/00096/FL Conditionally Approved 17.06.1996 Change of use of barn to 

two holiday cottages  
3.3 22/00394/FL Refused 31.10.2022 Application for the erection of a field barn 

(amended title)(Amended drawings)  
3.4 22/00506/FL Refused 31.10.2022 Erection of a replacement general 

purpose agricultural building  
3.5 22/00507/FLH Refused 21.09.2022 Application for the erection of a detached 

double garage with gym above. (Amended Drawings) 
3.6 22/00504/FL Refused 24.10.2022 Application for conversion of barn to 

dwelling (Amended Drawings) 
 
4.0 Consultation Responses 

 
4.1 Highway Authority: The above-referenced proposal is for the conversion of 

barn to form a new dwelling. The proposed site is unsustainable as there are 
no formal footways to nearby bus stops. The future residents are likely to rely 
entirely on the private car for their everyday residential needs. For the 
proposed dwelling at least 2 car parking spaces should be proposed.  

 
 Subject to the conditions and notes advised below, the Highway Authority has 

no objection to this proposal. 
 
4.2 Parish Council: would raise the following concerns:- 

 The proposal appears large and the requirement for the number of window 
openings is questioned; both these aspects having an impact on the 
surrounding countryside. Officer comment: this is dealt with below 

Page 39



 Waste disposal has not been clarified. Officer comment: this can be dealt with 
by condition 

 The reference to ‘Dewey Lane’ and ‘Deweray Lane’ on the plans is 
questioned as the application shows the location as Doehole Lane. Officer 
Comment- the address is correct on the application form the application is 
therefore valid  

 Members asked if a ‘Change of Use’ was required from agricultural to 
domestic. Officer Comment- this application is effectively an application for a 
change of use. 

 Ashover Parish Council requests that previous observations made under 
application 22/00504/FL are considered. Officer comment: this is dealt with 
below 

 
4.3 Environmental Health Officer: I can confirm that I do not object to the 

proposals in principle. Given the historical use of the land, and the proximity 
of areas of filled ground, I recommend the following condition: (See below) 

 
4.4 Severn Trent Water: No comment received 
 
4.5 Derbyshire Wildlife Trust No comment received 
 
5.0 Representations  
5.1 1 objection Comment was received from a neighbour raising the following 

material planning considerations: 

 How is it sustainable when there are no bus stops or kerbside pavements? 

 The number of windows proposed compromises the visual integrity of the 
building 

 There are errors in the existing elevation drawings 
Officer Comment: these are dealt with in the assessment below 

 
6.0 Relevant Policy and Strategic Context 
6.1 Ashover Neighbourhood Plan 
AP2 Development Proposals outside the Limits to Development 
AP11 Design 
AP13 Landscape Character  
AP20 Traffic  
 
6.2 The North East Derbyshire District Local Plan (2014-2034)  
SS1 Sustainable Development 
SS9 Development in the Countryside 
SDC1 Re-use and Conversion of Buildings in the Green Belt and Countryside 
SDC3 Landscape Character 
SDC4 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 
SDC12 High Quality Design and Place Making 
SDC14 Land potentially affected by Contamination or Instability 
ID3 Sustainable Travel 
 
6.3 National Planning Policy Framework 

Page 40



 The overarching aims of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) are 
also material in the assessment of this application and have been taken into 
account 

 
7.0  Planning Issues  

 
7.1 Moor Grange is located outside of settlement development limits and is 

therefore within the countryside for planning purposes.  The site is located 
within the Enclosed Moors and Heaths Landscape type of the Peak Fringe 
and Lower Derwent Landscape Character Area. 

 
7.2 The site is located within the Parish of Ashover and therefore Ashover 

Neighbourhood Plan (ANP) policies apply alongside the North East 
Derbyshire Local Plan (LP). 

 
7.3 Parts of the roof of the building subject of this application is visible at a 

distance from public footpath NE1/77/1 to the north whilst the eastern 
elevation is visible from public footpath NE1/78/2. The building is obscured 
from visibility to the south by other buildings on the site although the roof may 
be visible from some locations. 

 
Principal of Development 
 
7.4 Local Plan (LP) Policy SS9 supports proposals for development within the 

countryside where it involves the re-use of buildings and accords with policy 
SDC1. 

 
7.5 The Ashover Neighbourhood Plan (ANP) policy AP2 states that land outside 

the defined limited to development will be treated as countryside which will 
be protected for the sake of its intrinsic character and beauty.  This policy 
supports the reuse of redundant or underused buildings where development 
is not seriously intrusive in the countryside. 

 
7.6 The local and neighborhood plans therefore support the principal of the 

conversion of the barn to a dwelling.  The decision maker therefore needs to 
assess whether the proposal meets the requirements of the conversion 
policies and if the resulting dwelling will have an acceptable impact on the 
valued landscape 

 
Suitability of Conversion 
7.7 LP Policy SDC1 supports the reuse and conversion of building in the 

countryside provided that: 
a. they are of permanent and substantial construction; 
b. they are structurally sound, and capable of re-use without major 

alterations, adaptations or re-construction; 
c. their form, bulk and design is, or can be made to be, in keeping with their 

surroundings; 
d. conversion or adaptation will not be detrimental to the character of the 

building itself or its setting; 

Page 41



e. they preserve the openness and character of the Green Belt and 
Countryside; 

f. the new use would not result in replacement farm buildings or 
inappropriate outside storage of any materials, machinery and / or 
vehicles that would cause harm to the Green Belt and Countryside; and 

g. provision is made for nesting boxes and roosts for protected species such 
as barn owls and bats, where appropriate. 

 

 
Figure 2 Existing front elevation 

Page 42



 

 
Figure 3 existing east side and rear elevation 

 

Criterion (a) 
7.8 In this case no structural survey has been submitted, however a site visit 

shows that the building appears to be of permanent and substantial 
construction.  
 

Criteria (b), (c) and (d) 
7.9 No extension are proposed to the building only changes to openings.  

Page 43



 
Figure 4 Existing Elevations 

 

7.10 Note there is an error on the existing drawings showing a long window on 
the east elevation. However comparison with the photograph in Figure 3 
above shows that this window is actually a small square opening as shown 
in the proposed drawings.  

 
7.11 The proposed design utilizes all the existing openings on the building with 

the former door opening on the rear elevation being reopened to form a full 
height window.  Two additional windows are added to the rear wall elevation. 
It is considered that due to the location on the rear of the building well 
obscured from public view these windows, whilst not in keeping with the 
building do not cause harm to publicly visible areas of the building. 

 
7.12 A number of roof lights are also proposed on the building, these are low 

down on the roof which is considered best practice, however they could be 
positioned in such a way to be better related to the openings in the walls 
below. No details of the type of roof light have been submitted and it is 
considered that in barn conversions such as this conservation roof lights are 
best suited.  It is considered that this could be dealt with by a suitable 
condition requiring roof light design details before development begins. 

 
 

Page 44



 
Figure 5 Proposed Elevations 

7.13 Subject to a condition as outlined above it is considered that the due to the 
location of the building away from close by publicly accessible viewpoints the 
design is acceptable and does not represent major alterations to the building 
nor will it be detrimental to the character of the building. 

 

 
Figure 6 showing proposed garden to rear and parking to front. 

 
7.14 A proposed garden is located to the north of the building and is bounded 

by an existing agricultural building to the west. It is considered that due to the 

Page 45



proposed size of this garden and its location to the rear of the building 
shielded from views from the footpath to the north by the slope of the land 
and existing vegetation it would not have a harmful impact on the character 
or openness of the countryside.  

 
Criterion (f) 
7.15 Pervious applications for new agricultural buildings have been refused and 

no new applications submitted at this time. As such it is considered that the 
proposal meets the requirement of criterion (f) of policy SDC1 
 

Criterion (g) 
7.16 It will be possible to condition bat and bird boxes to be delivered on or near 

the building. 
 
Amenity Considerations 
7.17 Policy SDC12 requires that all new development should be of a high quality 

design and make a positive contribution to the quality of the local 
environment. Development will only be permitted provided that it protects the 
amenity of existing occupiers and create a good quality of amenity for future 
occupants of land or buildings including in relation to privacy, overlooking, 
overshadowing and/or any overbearing impacts 

 
7.18 The proposed site plan shows space to park 2 cars which is considered 

adequate for a 3 bedroom house. 
 
7.19 A modern agricultural building is located immediately to the north-west.  

Officers are concerned that the proximity of this barn to the dwelling could 
have a negative impact on the amenity of residents at the dwelling depending 
on how it is used, as such it is considered that should these applications be 
approved a tie should be included to ensure that the agricultural barn remains 
in the control of the residents of the barn conversion. 

 
Impact on Landscape 

7.20 The building proposed for conversion is located on the hillside above and 
to the north of Doehole Lane.  The barn is visible from open access land to 
the north and footpath NE1/78/2 to the east.  However from the north the 
detail of the building is obscured by vegetation including large trees in the 
field immediately behind the building and the steep slope of the hill helps to 
obscure the bulk of the building with the exception of the roof. From the east 
the gable end is clearly visible.  It is considered that due to the proposed 
design particularly of the gable end which utilizes existing openings, subject 
to conditions with regard to boundary treatments of the garden, the 
conversion will not have a harmful impact on the landscape. As a 
consequence it therefore meets the requirements of policy SDC3 and ANP 
policy AP11. 

 
Highways 
7.21 Space for the parking of cars has been shown in the site plan. This is 

sufficient for a 3 bedroom house.   

Page 46



 
7.22 It has been shown above that the proposal meets the requirement of policy 

SS9 and therefore although there is no public transport links close by the site 
is considered sustainable.  Policy ID3 only requires the promotion of 
sustainable travel methods in Major Applications which this is not.  In all 
cases, planning permission will only be refused on transport grounds if there 
would be an unacceptable impact on highway safety, or where the residual 
cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe. 

 
7.23 The applicant has demonstrated that visibility splays of 132m and 108m 

can be achieved, however, this is less than the 160m that is required by the 
Highway Authority.  Officers consider that to carry out the work to create 160m 
site lines would have an urbanizing effect which would be harmful to the 
landscape. However as the access is existing it is considered that the use of 
it for a dwelling would not result in such a great intensification as to severely 
impact on Highway Safety. For these reasons the proposals are considered 
acceptable from a highway safety perspective.   

 
Biodiversity 
7.24 A Preliminary Bat Roost Assessment carried out in February 2022 has 

been submitted.  This is the same assessment as was submitted with 
application 22/00504/FL. We have not received comments from DWT for the 
current application but their comments to 22/00504/FL was as follows: 
 
Sufficient information has been provided in the Bat Survey Report (S. 
Christopher Smith, February 2022) to enable the LPA to determine the 
application. No further survey work is required, providing the crevices in the 
stonework identified within the report can be retained as described. We 
advise that two Schwegler 2F bat boxes with double front panel are attached 
to the nearby tree as recommended to provide an onsite enhancement and 
this should be secured through a suitably worded condition. 
 

7.25 It is therefore considered that subject to a suitable condition securing the 
bat boxes the proposal meets the requirements of LP policies SDC1 and 
SDC4. 

 
 
8.0 Summary and Conclusion  
8.1 Local and national planning policy aims to protect the countryside from 

inappropriate development. However policy is generally supportive of 
proposals to convert buildings which have fallen into disuse provided that the 
buildings are capable of conversion and the conversion would not be 
detrimental to the character of the building or its setting. In this case the 
building is considered to be structurally sound and due to the, location, setting 
and design, using existing openings or where new openings are required on 
less prominent elevations,  it is considered that the conversion will not be 
detrimental to the character of the building and will preserve the openness 
and character of its countryside location. As such it is considered that the 
proposal meets the requirements of Local Plan Policies SS9, SDC1, SDC3 

Page 47



and SDC 12 and Ashover Neighbourhood Plan policies AP2, AP11 and AP13 
and as a consequence it is recommended that the application be approved. 
   

9.0 Recommendation 
 
GRANT Full Planning Permission subject to the following conditions,  with the 

final wording delegated to the Planning Manager 
 
 

1. The development hereby permitted shall be started within three years from 
the date of this permission.  

 
Reason - To comply with the provision of Section 91 (as amended) of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance 
with the details shown on drawing numbers:  R0223-004 Location Plan, 
R0223-003 Existing and proposed site plan, R0223-007   Proposed Plans 
received 9th December 2022 and R0223 - 008 P3 Proposed Elevations 
received 15th December 2022; unless otherwise subsequently agreed 
through a formal submission under the Non Material Amendment 
procedures 

  
Reason- For clarity and the avoidance of doubt. 

 

 
3. The premises, the subject of the application, shall not be occupied/ taken 

into use until space has been provided within the application site in 

accordance with the plan agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority 

for the parking of 2 vehicles and maneuvering of residents, visitors, service 

and delivery vehicles, laid out, surfaced and maintained throughout the life 

of the development free from any impediment to its designated use. 

 

Reason- To ensure there is space to adequately park vehicles to maintain 

highway safety and in accordance with policy SDC12 of the North East 

Derbyshire Local Plan 

 

4. Before any other operations are commenced, a construction method 

statement shall be submitted to and be approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority. The agreed plan/statement shall be adhered to 

throughout the construction period. The construction method statement 

shall provide information about the construction access, storage of plant 

and materials, site accommodation, loading, unloading and maneuvering of 

goods vehicles, parking and maneuvering of employees and visitors 

vehicles during the construction period. 

 

Page 48



Reason: to ensure that work can be carried out safely within the site so as 

to ensure the safety of the highway. 

 

5. Nothwithstanding the submitted details, before development begins a 

drawing showing details of conservation roof lights well positioned in 

relation to the windows below shall be submitted to and approved in writing 

by the Local Planning Authority. The roof lights shall then be installed and 

retained as approved. 

 
Reason- In order to maintain the character of the building and in 

accordance with policies SS9, SDC1 and SDC12 of the North East 

Derbyshire Local Plan 

 

6. Notwithstanding the provisions of Article 3(1) of the Town and Country 

Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015, (or any Order 

revoking and re-enacting that Order) no alterations, improvements or 

extensions (Part 1 Class A) dormer windows (Part 1 Class B), alterations to 

the roof (Part 1 Class C), porches (Part 1 Class D), curtilage buildings (Part 

1 Class E), swimming pool (Part 1 Class E), means of enclosure (Part 1 

Class E), hard surfaces (Part 1 Class F), oil storage tanks (Part 1 Class G), 

means of enclosure (Part 2 Class A), shall be erected/constructed without 

first obtaining planning permission. 

 

Reason – To maintain the character of the building and the landscape in 

accordance with Policies SS9, SDC1, SDC3 and SDC12 of the North East 

Derbyshire Local Plan. 

 

7. The agricultural barn located to the north west (outlined in red on the 

attached plan) shall remain in the same ownership as the occupiers of the 

dwelling the subject of this application and shall not be sold separately.   

 

Reason: to ensure that the amenity of future residents is not harmed by the 

agricultural use of the building out of their control in accordance with policy 

SDC12 of the North East Derbyshire Local Plan. 

  

8. Before development starts, 2no Schwegler 2F bat boxes with double front 

panel shall be attached to the nearby tree as recommended by the bat 

report and will remain as such thereafter. 

 

Reason- In order to provide suitable roosting places for bats and in 

accordance with policies SDC1 and SDC4 of the North East Derbyshire 

Local Plan. 

Page 49



 

P
age 50



 

P
age 51



 Planning Committee 14.02.2023 Late Comments Report 

 

Planning Committee 14th February 2023 

SUMMARY OF LATE COMMENTS/REPORT UPDATE 

The aim of this report is to seek to avoid the need for lengthy verbal updates that 

Planning Officers have sometimes needed to provide in the past at the Planning 

Committee. In consultation with the Chair, it has been decided that on the evening 

before committee a summary of all the late comments/representations received so far 

will be emailed to the Committee Members by the Governance Team. 

It is possible that verbal updates will still be required at the meeting as sometimes 

comments are received at the last minute or Officers may wish to amend their 

recommendations: however Officers will seek to keep verbal updates to a minimum. 

At the meeting Officers will only refer briefly to any key points of the case in the 

summary that has been emailed, as well as providing the usual verbal update for any 

additional last minute items.  

If Members have any queries about the comments or the application itself please feel 

free to contact the relevant case officer given beneath the title of each summary below. 

 

PARISH: Ashover  

APPLICATION:  22/00391/FL Kelstedge Inn 

CASE OFFICER: Alice Lockett 

1. SOURCE OF COMMENTS: Mr John Cook 

DATE RECEIVED: 1 February 2022 

SUMMARY: I am in support of this application, Simon had particular details during 

lockdown as outside serving was the only means of continuing business.  

A number of parked cars in the vicinity of the Kelstedge are parked there as those 

drivers parked their vehicles have been taken to other locations.  

A number of employees at Marsh Green Farm Shop park their vehicles on Ashover 

Road.  

These vehicles cause parking issues not The Kelstedge Inn. 

 
 
OFFICER COMMENTS:   

These issues are dealt with in the officer report 

Page 52

Agenda Item 7



 Planning Committee 14.02.2023 Late Comments Report 

 

2. SOURCE OF COMMENTS: Simon Montague 

DATE RECEIVED: 3 February 2023 

SUMMARY: I still feel that the parking at the The Kelstedge is still an issue. I reiterate, 

that i have had my vehicle damaged by a 4x4 with a tow bar, reversing into my rear 

bumper, the impressions are still visible on my vehicle and I have a good idea who it 

was, but its proving it. however I know it was a patron of the pub. 

Also an issue is the patrons parking their vehicles on the pavements along the 

causeway, and on a number of occasions vehicles park right on the junction between 

the post box and slack view drive way, this is also not ideal for viewing oncoming traffic 

coming along the A632 from Matlock. The public transport also has issues navigating 

the corner from the A632 onto The Causeway.  

On a number of occasion patrons of The Kelstedge park in the bus stop layby, thus 

forcing the bus to block the causeway should anyone be getting on or off the bus. 

I have phoned the council regarding vehicles parking along Ashover Road, but they 

informed me it was a police issue, but vehicles are parking again right up to the junction 

with the A632, this junction has a slip road to navigate this corner, its an accident 

waiting to happen as you do not see said parked cars until you are round the corner, 

you then have to drive past on opposite side of road, if you meet other vehicles or the 

bus, there will end up being an accident, I have to say these vehicles are not solely all 

the patrons going to the pub, however some are. 

On checking the comments from The Highways Department regarding A Travel Plan, 

I am unsure how this will stop people parking in front of our properties, blocking drives 

etc. As even with a Travel Plan in place, people will still want to use their vehicles. For 

people who walk to the Kelstedge, obviously this doesn’t impact on their lives, as they 

do not live opposite the Pub, the only impact is to the residents who live opposite the 

pub. 

The seating area has taken parking spaces, which has also been highlighted by the 

Highways Department and we do not wish to appear as  killjoys, but if we cannot get 

on to our drive, this is impacting our lives. 

I appreciate that this is a meeting place for people and do not wish this to cease, 

however more consideration needs be given to residents by people who are driving to 

the pub. I have no issue with any other part of these updated plans except the Parking 

situation with regard to the carpark. 

OFFICER COMMENTS: These issues are dealt with in the officer report 

 

 

Page 53



 Planning Committee 14.02.2023 Late Comments Report 

 

3. SOURCE OF COMMENTS: Severn Trent Water Authority  

DATE RECEIVED: 3 February 2023 

SUMMARY: With reference to the above planning application the Company's 

observations regarding sewerage are as follows: 

Planning Practice Guidance and section H of the Building Regulations 2010 detail 

surface water disposal hierarchy. The disposal of surface water by means of 

soakaways should be considered as the primary method. If this is not practical and 

there is no watercourse is available as an alternative, other sustainable methods 

should also be explored. If these are found unsuitable, satisfactory evidence will need 

to be submitted, before a discharge to the public sewerage system is considered. No 

surface water to enter the foul water sewer by any means. 

Please note for the use or reuse of sewer connections either direct or indirect to the 

public sewerage system the applicant will be required to make a formal application to 

the Company under Section 106 of the Water Industry Act 1991. They may obtain 

copies of our current guidance notes and application form from either our website 

(www.stwater.co.uk) or by contacting our Developer Services Team (Tel: 0800 707 

6600). 

Suggested Informative on any decision: 

Severn Trent Water advise that although our statutory sewer records do not show any 

public sewers within the area you have specified, there may be sewers that have been 

recently adopted under, The Transfer Of Sewer Regulations 2011. Public sewers have 

statutory protection and may not be built close to, directly over or be diverted without 

consent and you are advised to contact Severn Trent Water to discuss your proposals. 

Severn Trent will seek to assist you obtaining a solution which protects both the public 

sewer and the building. 

This response only relates to the public waste water network and does not include 

representation from other areas of Severn Trent Water, such as the provision of water 

supply or the protection of drinking water quality. 

OFFICER COMMENTS: The informative can be added to the decision should 

members be minded to approve the application. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 54



 Planning Committee 14.02.2023 Late Comments Report 

 

4. SOURCE OF COMMENTS: Charlotte Stainton- Stainton Planning -Agent 

DATE RECEIVED: 8 February 2023 

SUMMARY:  

I received the official notification of the Committee yesterday. I’m a bit disappointed 

you didn’t let me know you are taking it to the Feb Committee given that we’d agreed 

March and I felt we were working together to seek to address issues as far as possible 

for that meeting.  

Before we raise it in our committee speeches, I want to highlight our serious concern 

that several of the items you have raised concern about in your report (cladding, porch 

and front sign structure) had been agreed as acceptable by Emily -see email of 6 June 

2022 attached.  This is unreasonable to the applicant. I know picking up an application 

from another officer is tricky and I don’t know whether you will have seen Emily’s June 

email previously, but we could have discussed this if you had let me know where you 

were heading with your recommendation. 

The acceptance of the cladding by Emily (following discussions at the DM team 

meeting) led to the discussions we then had about the colour of fencing etc.  This U-

turn on the cladding is not reasonable.  

We made it clear all the way through the application that the applicant was willing to 

work with the Council on materials and colour. The porch for example could easily 

have cladding or be painted to match the other cladding -we were never asked to look 

at this because Emily confirmed the porch was acceptable (your point at 7.23 of the 

report) 

In terms of your points at 7.19 of your report, the fencing has not been painted because 

I advised the applicant not to do any further work until the planning decision was made. 

A condition could be imposed to require painting of the fence, as well as the timber 

structures (to address your point at 7.18) within an appropriate timescale.  As you 

know, planning permission is only required for fencing over 1m high adjacent to the 

highway and 2m elsewhere -please can you confirm whether the Council believes the 

fencing to the north-west boundary requires planning permission? 

To help with preparation for Committee please can you clarify for us ASAP why you 

consider that on-street parking is harmful to the amenity of local residents? What is 

the harm? This is not explained in the report and was never raised with us during the 

application (we were just asked to reply to the Highway Authority comments). I see the 

Highway Authority do not object.  

OFFICER COMMENTS:  

If committee uphold the recommendation for refusal, the Council will need to serve 

enforcement prior to April 2023 (this is the date 4 years after Google Street View 

Page 55



 Planning Committee 14.02.2023 Late Comments Report 

 

evidence of the building before the changes were made). As a consequence the 

decision was made to bring the case to the February Committee to provide time to 

issue enforcement proceedings.    

Officers would have been happy to work with the applicant but were only provided with 

legible drawings at the beginning of January 2023, given the time constraints on 

enforcement, this provided no time to allow for further negotiation.   

It was only once the full drawings and all the facts were together that a decision could 

be reached. The reasons why officers have recommended refusal is outlined in the 

officer report to committee. 

Objections have been received from local residents expressing concern about the 

impact of on street parking this has been taken into account in the report. 

 

5. SOURCE OF COMMENTS: Charlotte Stainton- Stainton Planning -Agent 

DATE RECEIVED: 13 February 2023 

SUMMARY:  

The amended plans did not change the elements of the scheme that Emily had told 

us were acceptable (they were not changed because we were told they were ok) and 

they are visible on site anyway, so I don’t see how the final plans could change the 

conclusion on these aspects.  

Honestly I’m still not sure how lawful parking on a street impacts on neighbour 

amenity - I’m not sure whether the concern is about noise or what aspect of amenity. 

OFFICER COMMENTS:  

It was only once the full drawings and all the facts were provided that a decision could 

be reached by officers on the merits of the proposal. The reason why officers have 

recommended refusal is outlined in the officer report to members of planning 

committee. 

Furthermore, objections have been received from local residents expressing concern 

about the impact of on street parking and this has been taken into account in the officer 

report. Moving parking to the street will increase noise and comings and goings for 

local residents as well as reducing the amount of spaces available for residential use.  

These factors all impact the amenity of neighbouring properties in the village. 

 

 

 

Page 56



 Planning Committee 14.02.2023 Late Comments Report 

 

PARISH: Ashover  

APPLICATION:  22/01190/FL Moor Grange 

CASE OFFICER: Alice Lockett 

6. SOURCE OF COMMENTS: Severn Trent Water 

DATE RECEIVED: 3 February 2022 

SUMMARY:  

Planning Practice Guidance and section H of the Building Regulations 2010 detail 

surface water disposal hierarchy. The disposal of surface water by means of 

soakaways should be considered as the primary method. If this is not practical and 

there is no watercourse is available as an alternative other sustainable methods 

should also be explored. If these are found unsuitable, satisfactory evidence will need 

to be submitted, before a discharge to the public sewerage system is considered. No 

surface water to enter the foul water sewer by any means. 

Please note for the use or reuse of sewer connections either direct or indirect to the 

public sewerage system the applicant will be required to make a formal application to 

the Company under Section 106 of the Water Industry Act 1991. They may obtain 

copies of our current guidance notes and application form from either our website 

(www.stwater.co.uk) or by contacting our Developer Services Team (Tel: 0800 707 

6600). 

Suggested Informative on any decision: 

Severn Trent Water advise that although our statutory sewer records do not show any 

public sewers within the area you have specified, there may be sewers that have been 

recently adopted under, The Transfer Of Sewer Regulations 2011. Public sewers have 

statutory protection and may not be built close to, directly over or be diverted without 

consent and you are advised to contact Severn Trent Water to discuss your proposals. 

Severn Trent will seek to assist you obtaining a solution which protects both the public 

sewer and the building. 

This response only relates to the public waste water network and does not include 

representation from other areas of Severn Trent Water, such as the provision of water 

supply or the protection of drinking water quality. 

 
OFFICER COMMENTS:   

The informative can be included in any decision should members be minded to 

approve the application. 

 

Page 57



 Planning Committee 14.02.2023 Late Comments Report 

 

PARISH: Ashover  

APPLICATION: 22/01164/FL Alice Head Farm 

CASE OFFICER: Alice Lockett 

7. SOURCE OF COMMENTS: Derbyshire Wildlife Trust 

DATE RECEIVED: 7 February 2022 

SUMMARY:  

Alice Head Farm was subject to a Protected Species Appraisal (Arc Ecology, 2021) 

on the 17th December 2020. The daytime inspection determined that the buildings 

have a moderate potential to support roosting bats due to the presence of access 

points and potential roosting features for bats. Following Good Practice Guidelines, 

two subsequent nocturnal activity surveys were undertaken in August 2021. No bats 

were observed to emerge from the existing barns; however, foraging and commuting 

activity was noted. 

We advise that sufficient information has been provided to enable the LPA to reach an 

informed decision in accordance with Circular 06/2005 and to discharge its duty in 

respect of the requirements of The Conservation of Habitats and Species 

(Amendment) (EU Exit) Regulations 2019. 

Please note in accordance with guidance on the lifespan of ecological data (CIEEM, 

2019) these protected species reports will soon be considered outdated and therefore 

if determination of the application is delayed for any reason past May 2023 i.e. into the 

next bat activity season, then a site visit will be required to update the appraisal of the 

buildings and advise whether any update nocturnal surveys are necessary to inform 

the application. 

If the council is minded to achieve a net gain for biodiversity for this application, we 

recommend the following condition is secured with any planning approval: 

Biodiversity Enhancement 

Prior to construction above foundation level, a Biodiversity Enhancement Plan shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The Plan shall 

include, as a minimum, the installation of: 

- 1x External Bat Box 

Such approved measures shall be implemented in full and maintained thereafter. 

OFFICER COMMENTS:   

If permission is granted the proposed condition recommended by DWT should be 

included. 

Page 58



 
 

North East Derbyshire District Council 
 

Planning Committee 
 

14 February 2023 
 
 

Planning Appeals Lodged and Determined  

 
Report of the Planning Manager – Development Management 

 
This report is public  

 
Purpose of the Report 
 

 To inform the Committee of the appeals lodged and determined. 
 
1 Report Details 
 
1.1 Appeals Lodged 
 
 The following appeals have been lodged:- 
 
 Mr Paul Stanton - Demolition of existing barn and replacement with a dwelling, 

and erection of 1no further dwelling (Revised scheme of 21/00701/FL) (Affecting 
setting of a listed building) at 179A Stubley Lane, Dronfield Woodhouse 
(22/00019/FL) 

 
 Planning Officer – (AP)  susan.wraith@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk 
 
 Mr Andrew Wraith - Proposed Detached Two Bedroomed Dwelling at 92 

Fletcher Avenue, Dronfield (21/01250/FL) 
 
 Planning Officer – (Colin Wilson)  colin.wilson@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk 
 
 Mr Paul Stanton - Demolition of existing barn and replacement with a dwelling, 

and erection of 1no further dwelling (Revised scheme of 21/00701/FL) (Affecting 
setting of a listed building) at 179A Stubley Lane, Dronfield Woodhouse 
(22/00019/FL) 

 
 Planning Officer – (AP)  susan.wraith@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk 
 
 Mr Melvyn Humphreys - Application for the retention of two garden cabins 

(Listed Building) at Hagg Hill Hall, Hagg Hill, New Tupton (22/00177/FLH) 
 
 Planning Officer – (Susan Wraith)  susan.wraith@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk 

Page 59

Agenda Item 8

mailto:susan.wraith@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk
mailto:colin.wilson@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk
mailto:susan.wraith@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk
mailto:susan.wraith@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk


 Mr and Mrs Peto - Application for Proposed rear Orangery (Conservation Area) 
at Top Yard Bungalow, Main Road, Marsh Lane (22/00901/FLH) 

 
 Planning Officer – (AP)  susan.wraith@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk 
 
 Land Allocation Ltd - Outline application for up to 26 over 55s accommodation, 

with all other matters reserved except for access (Major 
Development/Departure from Development Plan) at Land At Rear Of 
263Nethermoor Road, Wingerworth (21/01085/OL) 

 
 Planning Officer – (AP)  susan.wraith@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk 
 
1.2 Enforcement Appeals Lodged 
 
 The following enforcement appeal has been lodged:- 
 
 Mr Melvyn Humphreys – Change of use of the land for recreation purposes and 

the siting of two cabins at Hagg Hill Hall, Hagg Hill, New Tupton (21/00005/LB) 
 
 Planning Officer – (Susan Wraith)  susan.wraith@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk 
 
1.3 Appeals Allowed  
 
 No planning appeals have been allowed. 
 
1.4 Appeals Dismissed 
 
 No planning appeals have been dismissed. 

 
1.5 Enforcement Appeals Dismissed  
 
 The following appeal has been dismissed:- 
 
 Mr Hadfield – Enforcement appeal against 2 outbuildings exceeding permitted  
 development limitations at dwelling at Brindwood House, Millthorpe Lane,  
 Holmesfield (21/00020/EN_OD) 
 

Planning Officer – Julian Hawley julian.hawley@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk 
 
APPEAL FOR COSTS PARTIALLY ALLOWED 

 
1.6 Appeals Withdrawn  

 
 The following enforcement appeal has been withdrawn:- 
 
 Mr Hadfield – Enforcement appeal against change of use of building to a  
 dwelling at Brindwood House, Millthorpe Lane, Holmesfield (21/00020/EN_COU) 
 

Planning Officer – Julian Hawley julian.hawley@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk 
Page 60

mailto:susan.wraith@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk
mailto:susan.wraith@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk
mailto:susan.wraith@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk
mailto:julian.hawley@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk
mailto:julian.hawley@ne-derbyshire.gov.uk


 
2 Conclusions and Reasons for Recommendation  
 
2.1 N/a. 
 
3 Consultation and Equality Impact 
 
3.1 N/a. 
 
4 Alternative Options and Reasons for Rejection 
 
4.1 N/a. 
 
5 Implications 
 
5.1 Finance and Risk Implications 
 
 N/a. 
  
5.2 Legal Implications including Data Protection 
 
 N/a. 
 
5.3 Human Resources Implications 
 
 N/a. 
 
6 Recommendations 
 
6.1 N/a. 
 
 
7 Decision Information 
 

Is the decision a Key Decision? 
A Key Decision is an executive decision 
which has a significant impact on two or 
more District wards or which results in 
income or expenditure to the Council above 
the following thresholds:               

No 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

NEDDC:  
 

Revenue - £100,000  
Capital - £250,000     

 Please indicate which threshold applies 

Is the decision subject to Call-In? 
(Only Key Decisions are subject to Call-In)  
 

No 

Page 61



District Wards Affected 
 

All 

Links to Corporate Plan priorities or 
Policy Framework 
 

All  

 
8 Document Information 
 

Appendix No 
 

Title 

 
 

 

Background Papers (These are unpublished works which have been relied 
on to a material extent when preparing the report.  They must be listed in the 
section below.  If the report is going to Cabinet you must provide copies of the 
background papers) 

 
 
 

Report Author 
 

Contact Number 

 
Katie Spelman 
 

 
01246 217172 

 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                               

Page 62


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of Last Meeting
	4 NED/22/00391/FL - KELSTEDGE
	5 NED/22/01164/FL - ASHOVER
	6 NED/22/01190/FL - BRACKENFIELD
	7 Late Representations - Summary Update Report - NOW PUBLISHED
	8 Planning Appeals - Lodged and Determined

